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PRESTON DuFAUCHARD 
California Corporations Commissioner 
ALAN S. WEINGER  
Deputy Commissioner 
MIRANDA LEKANDER (SBN 210082) 
Senior Corporations Counsel 
DEPARTMENT OF CORPORATIONS 
1515 K Street, Suite 200 
Sacramento, California  95814 
Telephone: (916) 322-8730 Facsimile: (916) 445-8730 
 
 
Attorneys for Complainant 
 
 


BEFORE THE DEPARTMENT OF CORPORATIONS 


OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 


 


In the Matter of THE CALIFORNIA 
CORPORATIONS COMMISSIONER, 
 
  Complainant, 
 v. 
 
FIDUCIARY INVESTMENTS, INC.; 
RICHARD ALBERT COX, individually and 
doing business as RICHARD COX FIDUCIARY
SERVICES; and, BARBARA BAILEY COX, 


 ) 


 
  Respondents. 


) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 


) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 


STATEMENT IN SUPPORT OF: 
 
(1)  ORDERS LEVYING ADMINISTRATIVE 
       PENALTIES PURSUANT TO  
       CORPORATIONS CODE SECTION 
       25252; 
 
(2) CLAIM FOR ANCILLARY RELIEF 
 PURSUANT TO CORPORATIONS 
 CODE SECTION 25254; and, 
 
(3)  DESIST AND REFRAIN ORDERS 


 
Preston DuFauchard, the California Corporations Commissioner ("Commissioner") of the 


Department of Corporations ("Department"), collectively (“Complainant”), alleges and charges 


as follows: 


I.  STATEMENT OF FACTS 


1. During the period of approximately January 1992 through June 1996, Richard Albert Cox 


(“Richard Cox”) was licensed as a general securities agent by the National Association of Securities 


Dealers (“NASD”) (CRD No. 2201392).   
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2. On June 10, 1994, Richard Cox first became registered as a California investment adviser 


under section 25230 of the California Corporate Securities Law of 1968 (California Corporations 


Code section 25000 et seq.) (“CSL”).1    


3. On June 24, 2009, the Commissioner summarily revoked Richard Cox’s investment adviser 


registration pursuant to Corporations Code section 25242(c)(1) for failure to pay annual renewal fees 


as required by Corporations Code section 25608(q)(1). 


4. Since as early as 1998, Richard Cox has conducted business as a professional fiduciary and 


became licensed by the California Department of Consumer Affairs Professional Fiduciaries Bureau 


on August 4, 2008 (license #137) pursuant to the Professional Fiduciaries Act (California Business 


and Professions Code section 6500 et seq.).  In January 2011, Richard Cox reported to the 


Professional Fiduciaries Bureau that he had $15 million of client assets under his fiduciary 


management.   


5. Beginning in or about 2004 through the present time, Richard Cox has operated as a 


professional fiduciary under the fictitious business name of Richard Cox Fiduciary Services 


(“RCFS”). 


6. On September 1, 2010, Richard Cox’s wife, Barbara Bailey Cox (“Barbara Cox”), also 


obtained a professional fiduciary license through the California Department of Consumer Affairs 


Professional Fiduciaries Bureau (license #459).  


7. On or about August 1, 2001, Richard and Barbara Cox formed and managed Fiduciary 


Investments, Inc. (“Fiduciary Investments”). 


8. Fiduciary Investments remains an active California corporation with a mailing address of Post 


Office Box 1499, Graegle, California, 96103 and designated principal office address of 805 “C” 


Road, Blairsden, California, 96103.   


 


1 Hereafter all code references are to the California Corporations Code unless otherwise specified. 
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9. At all relevant times, Richard and Barbara Cox were the only officers, directors and control 


persons of Fiduciary Investments.   


10. The purported purpose of forming Fiduciary Investments was to pool client trust funds to 


invest in California real estate and residential rental properties that would generate “steady income” 


for shareholders.  Additionally, some funds were invested in third party promissory notes.   


11. “Respondents” shall herein collectively mean and refer to Fiduciary Investments, Richard 


Cox, individually and doing business as RCFS, and Barbara Cox.  Whenever reference is made in 


this Statement in Support to “Respondents” doing any act, the allegation shall mean the act of each 


respondent acting individually, jointly and severally. 


12. During the period of October 2001 through March 2009, Respondents offered and sold 


securities totaling approximately $490,000.00 in the form of shares of stock in Fiduciary Investments 


to at least 21 investors cherry-picked from the pool of trust beneficiaries whose financial affairs were 


placed under the fiduciary management of Richard Cox.     


13. Richard Cox utilized his authority as a professional fiduciary to directly withdraw and transfer 


funds from and between the trust accounts of his many clients, who were often mentally or physically 


disabled and financially unsophisticated individuals, in order to effect the purchase and transfer of 


securities in Fiduciary Investments as required for Respondents’ personal benefit.   


14. At no time before or during the offer and sale of the Fiduciary Investment stock were  


investors provided an offering circular or company prospectus nor did Respondents engage a certified 


public accountant to perform an independent audit of the books and records or financial statements of 


Fiduciary Investments. 


15. In probate proceedings that took place before the San Francisco Superior Court during the 


period of July 2003 through January 2005, a court-appointed guardian ad litem raised concerns about 
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issues of self-dealing, conflicts of interest, and the fairness of stock-valuation methods inherent in 


Richard Cox’s practice of investing client trust funds in his own company, Fiduciary Investments.   


16. As a result of the San Francisco probate court proceedings, the court ordered the divestiture 


of the shares of stock in Fiduciary Investments held by the three trusts at issue.  Respondents 


complied by liquidating the stock of the subject accounts and reissuing some of these same shares to 


other trust clients. 


17. In or about December 2006, Richard and Barbara Cox created a fictitious business entity 


called Turdel & Fundt to serve, inter alia, as an alter ego for facilitating the purchase and transfer of 


shares of stock in Fiduciary Investments among and between themselves and trust beneficiaries.  


18. During the period beginning as early as July 2005 through March 2009, Respondents operated 


a Ponzi scheme by taking advantage of their checkbook control over trust client assets to purchase 


new or additional shares in Fiduciary Investment on behalf of new or existing investors in order to 


pay back principal and issue dividends to earlier investors. 


19. Beginning as early as January 2007, Richard Cox engaged in the business of directly 


brokering the sale of stock, mutual funds or other securities among and between several of his trust 


clients. 


20. By August 2007, Fiduciary Investments was unable to pay dividends and claimed to be 


undergoing liquidation.  In the “annual report” prepared for the fiscal year ending August 23, 2007, 


Respondents reported that the assets of Fiduciary Investments were valued at $149,407.40 and 


consisted of cash reserves and one parcel of real property located at 418 Utah Street in Portola, 


California. 


21. Although tax statements that Respondents filed for Fiduciary Investments for 2008 showed 


that the company and all of its shareholders sustained net losses, Respondents continued to sell stock 
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in Fiduciary Investments to new trust client investors through March 2009 without disclosing these 


losses. 


22. In early March 2009, “L.P.”, the sister of one of Richard Cox’s trust clients, contacted him to 


express concern over the propriety of family trust funds being invested in Fiduciary Investments, a 


company owned and operated by the trustee. 


23. As of March 5, 2009, Fiduciary Investments had company assets consisting of cash reserves 


of $348.00 and the sole parcel of real property located at 418 Utah Street in Portola, California.   


24. On or about March 9, 2009, Respondents sold 3,450 shares of stock in Fiduciary Investments 


for the sum of $195,896.00 to two new trust investors, the “R. Trust” and “S.J.G. Special Needs 


Trust,” even though the company’s assets were valued well below that amount on the date of sale. 


25. On or about March 12, 2009, Richard Cox replied to “L.P.” regarding the family’s trust 


investment, writing:  “As the real estate market has declined, we have been liquidating the 


investments and will be sold out by the end of this month.  The liquidation will be paid in cash.” 


26. Within six days of the large March 9, 2009 stock purchase by the two new trust investors, 


Respondents cashed out the interests of the nine remaining Fiduciary Investment shareholders in the 


amount of $118,864.35.2  And, on March 26, 2009, the bulk of the balance of the new investor 


money was used by Respondents to pay off a $46,347.57 note held by a private lender.3 


27. Other than the single shares each held by Richard and Barbara Cox, the two newest investors, 


“R. Trust” and “S.J.G. Special Needs Trust,” have collectively held 99% of the stock of Fiduciary 


Investments since March 13, 2009.  


 


2 This sum includes cash disbursement to Respondents’ alter ego Turdel & Fundt for 145 shares of stock internally 
valued at $8,469.45. 
 
3 Respondent’s pay-off to the private lender included a “reconveyance fee” for an unspecified property. 
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28. Less than six months after the March 2009 stock purchase, tax statements that Respondents 


issued for the “R. Trust” and “S.J.G. Special Needs Trust” for the fiscal year ending August 23, 2009 


reported net losses in Fiduciary Investments for each in the amount of $5,855.81. 


29. The assets of Fiduciary Investments are currently valued at approximately $100,000.00.4  


However, in or about June 2011, Respondents issued written statements to both of the majority 


shareholders, the “R. Trust” and “S.J.G. Special Needs Trust,” indicating that their respective 1,725 


shares in Fiduciary Investments were each valued at $100,757.25 as of December 31, 2010. 


30. Despite the sharp decline in the value of the company’s real property and the reduction or 


complete lack of rental income, Respondents continued to pay steady dividends to Fiduciary 


Investment’s two remaining trust client shareholders from the diminishing balance of investor funds, 


a tactic typically employed to provide a false sense of security to investors and evade detection of a 


Ponzi scheme. 


II.  VIOLATIONS OF CORPORATIONS CODE SECTION 25110 


UNQUALIFIED, NON-EXEMPT OFFER AND SALE OF SECURITIES 


(AGAINST ALL RESPONDENTS) 


31. Complainant re-alleges and reincorporates by reference paragraphs 1-30 of this Statement in 


Support as though fully set forth herein. 


32. Corporations Code section 25110 prohibits the offer or sale of unqualified, non-exempt 


securities in issuer transactions in the State of California. 


33. The securities, in the form of shares of stock in Fiduciary Investments, which were offered 


                     


4 The Commissioner’s investigation disclosed that an appraisal Respondents obtained in September 2010 for the sole real 
asset of the company, the parcel located at 418 Utah Street, estimated the property value at $119,500.  Plumas County 
tax records for this same property presently reflect an assessed value of $93,708; and, bank records subpoenaed by the 
Commissioner show the company had cash reserves of only $7,792.41 as of April 13, 2011. 
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and sold by Respondents are subject to qualification under the CSL.  These securities were offered 


or sold in this state in issuer transactions.  The Department of Corporations has not issued a permit 


or other form of qualification authorizing any person to offer or sell these securities in this state.  


The offer or sale of these securities is not exempt. 


III.  VIOLATIONS OF CORPORATIONS CODE SECTION 25401 


MISREPRESENTATIONS AND OMISSIONS OF MATERIAL FACT 


(AGAINST ALL RESPONDENTS) 


34. Complainant re-alleges and reincorporates by reference paragraphs 1-33 of this Statement in 


Support as though fully set forth herein. 


35. Corporations Code section 25401 prohibits the offer and/or sale of securities in this state by 


means of written or oral communications that include untrue statements of material fact or omits 


material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances 


under which they were made, not misleading.  


36. In connection with the offer and sale of the securities offered in Fiduciary Investments, 


including shares of stock, Respondents made, or caused to be made, misrepresentations of material 


fact or omitted to state material facts including, but not limited to, the following: 


a. Failing to disclose that the securities were subject to qualification in the State of 


California; 


b. Not informing investors that the sale price or “market value” of their shares of stock   


in Fiduciary Investments would be determined solely by Respondents’ internal valuation methods; 


c. Withholding information from new investors that, as early as August 2007, Fiduciary 


Investments was undercapitalized and only able to pay back principal and dividends, if any, to earlier 


investors by taking in money from new investors in furtherance of a Ponzi scheme; 
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 d. Failing to disclose to investors that investing trust funds with a company in which the 


trustee has a personal business interest poses a conflict of interest in violation of section 4476 of title 


16 of the California Code of Regulations; 


 e. Failing to disclose that investment funds would be used to pay for services rendered to 


Fiduciary Investments by agents, affiliates or businesses owned fully or in part by Richard Cox  


and/or his wife, Barbara Cox; and, 


 f. Falsely representing that real property assets of Fiduciary Investments were owned 


outright as a result of cash purchases and that the company had “no debt” when, in fact, title on one 


or more of the properties was encumbered by interests held by private promissory notes. 


IV.  VIOLATIONS OF CORPORATIONS CODE SECTIONS 25241 AND 25404(b) AND 


CALIFORNIA CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 10, SECTION 260.241.3 


 FAILURE TO MAINTAIN BOOKS AND RECORDS AND SUBMIT TO 


EXAMINATION; MAKING UNTRUE STATEMENTS TO THE COMMISSIONER 


(AGAINST RESPONDENT RICHARD COX) 


37. Complainant re-alleges and reincorporates by reference paragraphs 1-36 of this Statement in 


Support as though fully set forth herein. 


38. The CSL and the California Code of Regulations, title 10, section 260.000 et seq. contain 


provisions that govern persons licensed to operate in the securities industry.  To ensure the 


protection of the public, the Commissioner requires compliance by licensees with these laws and 


regulations.  Licensees are required to keep accurate books and records, to amend their respective 


applications by providing current information to the facts stated therein, and to pay fees.    


39. Corporations Code section 25241 requires that investment advisers licensed under 


Corporations Code section 25230 maintain books and records that are subject to examination by the 


Commissioner and provides, in relevant part, as follows: 
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(a) Every…investment adviser licensed under Section 25230 shall make and keep such 
accounts, correspondence, memoranda, papers, books, and other records and shall file such 
financial and other reports as the commissioner by rule requires, subject to the limitations 
of…Section 222 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 with respect to investment advisers. 
 
(b) All records so required shall be preserved for the time specified in the rule. 
 
(c) All records referred to in this section are subject at any time and from time to time to such 
reasonable periodic, special, or other examinations by the commissioner, within or without 
this state, as the commissioner deems necessary or appropriate in the public interest or for the 
protection of investors…. 


 


40.    California Code of Regulations, title 10, section 260.241.3 sets forth the specific books and 


records that are required to be maintained by investment advisers and provides, in relevant part, as 


follows: 


(a) Every licensed investment adviser shall make and keep true, accurate and current the 
following books and records relating to such person’s investment advisory business: 


 
 …(7) Originals of all written communications received and copies of all written 
 communications sent by such investment adviser relating to (i) any recommendation made or 
 proposed to be made and any advice given or proposed to be given, (ii) any receipt, 
 disbursement or delivery of funds or securities, or (iii) the placing or execution of any order 
 to purchase or sell any security;… 
 
 (8) A list or other record of all accounts in which the investment adviser is vested with any 
 power of attorney with respect to the funds, securities or transactions of any client.  
 
 (9) All powers of attorney and other evidences of the granting of any discretionary authority 
 by any client to the investment adviser, or copies thereof.  
 
 (10) All written agreements (or copies thereof) entered into by the investment adviser with 
 any client or otherwise relating to the business of such investment adviser as such.  
 
 …(12) A record of every transaction in a security in which the investment adviser…has, or 
 by reason of such transaction acquires, any direct or indirect beneficial ownership…Such 
 record shall state the title and amount of the security involved; the date and nature of the 
 transaction (i.e., purchase, sale or other acquisition or disposition); the price at which it was 
 effected; and the name of the broker-dealer or bank with or through whom the transaction 
 was effected. A transaction shall be recorded not later than 10 days after the end of the 
 calendar quarter in which the transaction was effected.  
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41. In or about May 2000, the Department notified Richard Cox that it would be conducting a 


regulatory examination of his investment adviser business pursuant to the books and records 


provisions of the CSL, and the regulations promulgated thereunder.   


42. On June 20, 2000, Richard Cox sent a letter to the Department stating:  “I interpret the rules 


set by you for giving investment advice as a professional to the trusts I manage, (investing in stocks, 


bonds, mutual funds, etc.) [r]equires me to be a RIA [registered investment adviser] by the State of 


California…The answer is either; (1) I am over registered and over concerned trying to follow the 


rules, or (2) the rest of the people in this business need to step up and be registered.” 


43.   On June 27, 2000, the Department sent a letter to Richard Cox, replying:  “In regards to your 


letter of June 20, 2000, please be advised that nothing in your registration as a professional fiduciary 


excludes or exempts you from licensing requirements for an investment adviser under the California 


Corporate Securities Law of 1968.” 


44. In a letter to the Department dated July 1, 2000 stating that he would not “voluntarily” 


produce his “confidential” tax or trust files to the Commissioner’s examiner, Richard Cox wrote:   


“As a Registered Investment Adviser I have no clients and no files.  There is no question that you can 


have access to any information about this part of my business and I would willingly make them 


available to you if there were any.”5 


45. As Richard Cox continued to maintain his investment adviser registration, the Department 


conducted a regulatory examination on September 11, 2003.  On this occasion, Richard Cox informed 


the Department that his investment advisory business was “inactive” and that he had only received 


fees for two transactions with two “clients” during the past five years.  As part of the examination, 


 


5 Despite his claims of willingness to cooperate, Richard Cox repeatedly refused to produce non-privileged documents in 
conjunction with the Department’s 2000 and 2003 examinations of his business activities; and, in 2011, he resisted full 
compliance with subpoenas duces tecum issued under the authority of Corporations Code section 25531 and Government 
Code sections 11180-11182. 
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Richard Cox provided copies of undated “service agreements” entered into with the two clients he 


disclosed, wherein it was stated that “Investment Management Services” would be assessed a fee of 


“½ of 1% of market value of assets.” 


46. Contrary to Richard Cox’s representation to the Department that his investment advisory 


business has been “inactive” since 2002, the Commissioner discovered that, beginning as early as 


January 2000 through the present time, Richard Cox has annually charged a similar “investment 


management” fee to his trust clients ranging between ½ to ¾ of 1% of the market value of assets 


under his control.  He has also advertised that he can provide clients “assistance in security 


registration.”   


47. Moreover, during the same period that Richard Cox denied the existence of “active” advisory 


client accounts and refused the Commissioner’s examiners access to his trust clients’ records, he 


advertised in the promotional brochure for RCFS that he was “registered with the State of California 


as Registered Investment Advisor,” thereby falsely representing to prospective clients that his 


management of their trust funds would enjoy the added protection of regulatory oversight.   


48. In marketing his professional services to a prospective trust client in a letter dated October 16, 


2008, Richard Cox cited his financial expertise as a basis for charging higher fees, stating: 


…[W]e could save thousands of dollars in time to keep the trust current, and not take much 
time handing the trust to me as a new trustee…Because of my experience in investments, 
accountings and trust administration, I should be able to process the work more rapidly, but 
with the same care, as other professional fiduciaries…As you can see my fee charges are 
higher than those charged by some other fiduciaries.  In reviewing the trust assets it would be 
my plan to charge the standard fee of ¾ of one percent for the investment management of the 
liquid assets (the brokerage account, cash and the partnership investments) plus the ¾ of one 
percent for the responsibility of being trustee. 
 


49. Corporations Code section 25404, subdivision (b), provides: 


 (b) It is unlawful for any person to knowingly make an untrue statement to the commissioner 
 during the course of licensing, investigation, or examination, with the intent to impede, 
 obstruct, or influence the administration or enforcement of any provision of this division. 
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50. Based on the foregoing, the Commissioner finds that Richard Cox knowingly made untrue 


statements to the Commissioner during the course of the Department’s 2000 and 2003 examinations, 


by obfuscating the full extent of his investment adviser activities and refusing to produce all required 


books and records for inspection, with intent to perpetuate his control and appropriation of client 


funds and impede the Commissioner’s discovery of conduct in violation of the CSL. 


51. Had Richard Cox lawfully complied with the provisions of the CSL and disclosed to the 


Commissioner that he was providing “investment management” services to his trust clients, 


particularly under the auspices of his California investment adviser license, he would have been 


subject to audit for full compliance with subdivision (a) of section 260.241.3.  


52. Based on the foregoing, the Commissioner finds that during the period of his registration as  


an investment adviser, from at least May 2000 through June 2009, Richard Cox failed to maintain 


necessary books and records and submit to examination in violation of sections 25241 and 260.241.3. 


53.  The Commissioner further finds that Richard Cox knowingly made untrue statements to the 


Commissioner during the course of the 2000 and 2003 examinations with the intent to impede or 


obstruct enforcement of the provisions of the CSL in violation of section 25404(b).   


V.  VIOLATIONS OF CORPORATIONS CODE SECTION 25235 


FRAUDULENT, DECEPTIVE OR MANIPULATIVE ACTS 


(AGAINST RESPONDENT RICHARD COX) 


54. Complainant re-alleges and reincorporates by reference paragraphs 1-53 of this Statement in 


Support as though fully set forth herein. 


55. Corporations Code section 25235 provides that it is unlawful for any investment adviser in 


this state to, directly or indirectly, engage in any act, practice, or course of business which is 


fraudulent, deceptive or manipulative. 


56.   California Code of Regulations section 260.237 further provides, in relevant part: 
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It shall constitute a fraudulent, deceptive or manipulative act, practice or course of business, 
within the meaning of Section 25235 of the Code, for any investment adviser who has 
custody or possession of any funds or securities…in which any client has any beneficial 
interest to do any act or take any action, directly or indirectly, with respect to any such funds 
or securities, unless: 
 
(d) the investment adviser sends to each client, not less frequently than once every three 
months, an itemized statement showing the funds and securities in the custody or possession 
of the investment adviser at the end of the period, and all debits, credits and transactions in 
the client's account during the period; and 


 
(e) all funds and securities of clients are verified by actual examination at least once during 
each calendar year by an independent certified public accountant or public accountant at a 
time which shall be chosen by the accountant without prior notice to the investment adviser. 
A certificate of the accountant stating that such person has made an examination of the funds 
and securities, and describing the nature and extent of the examination, shall be filed with the 
Commissioner promptly after each examination. 


 
57. The Commissioner finds that Richard Cox provided discretionary investment advice to 


California investors and received compensation for these investment advisory services under the 


pretenses of an “Investment Management Fee” and hourly compensation for “other services” during 


the period he was licensed as an investment adviser and subject to the bookkeeping, reporting, and 


examination requirements of the CSL, as set forth above. 


58. The investigation conducted by the Commissioner also reveals that beginning as early as 


January 2004 through June 2009, when he was a licensed California investment adviser, Richard 


Cox had custody and possession of clients’ funds and securities but neither provided investors with 


quarterly itemized statements, as required by subdivision (d) of section 260.237, nor conducted 


annual examinations of clients’ funds and securities by a public accountant, in compliance with 


subdivision (e) of section 260.237. 


59. Based on the foregoing, the Commissioner finds that during the period that Richard Cox was 


subject to the investment adviser licensing requirements of the CSL, he committed fraudulent, 


deceptive, or manipulative acts within the meaning of section 260.237, in violation of section 25235.   
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VII.  VIOLATION OF CORPORATIONS CODE SECTION 25210 


UNLICENSED BROKER-DEALER ACTIVITY 


(AGAINST RESPONDENT RICHARD COX) 


60. Complainant re-alleges and reincorporates by reference paragraphs 1-59 of this Statement in 


Support as though fully set forth herein. 


61. Corporations Code section 25004 defines a “broker-dealer” as “any person engaged in the 


business of effecting transactions in securities in this state for the account of others or for his own 


account.” 


62. Corporations Code section 25210 provides in relevant part: 
 
(a) Unless exempted under the provisions of Chapter 1(commencing with Section 25200) 
of this part, no broker-dealer shall effect any transaction in, or induce or attempt to induce 
the purchase or sale of, any security in this state unless the broker-dealer has first applied 
for and secured from the commissioner a certificate, then in effect, authorizing that person 
to act in that capacity. 
 


63. The Commissioner’s investigation of Richard Cox’s business activities reveals that, 


beginning as early as January 2007, he engaged in the business of effecting transactions in securities 


in this state, working alone or in concert or participation with others, for the account of others or for 


his own account.  


64. On June 30, 2010, Richard Cox sent letters to his trust clients, informing: 


 On May 2nd I decided that all of these uncertainties [in the economy] made stock investing 
 risky, and as I have done in the past, I sold off most of the stock positions in the 
 accounts…Protection of the principal is of primary concern for the accounts so we looked at 
 the risks, and decided to invest in US Treasury obligations indexed for inflation, and gold 
 stocks which hold gold and mining shares. 
 
65. The Commissioner has not issued a certificate authorizing Richard Cox to act as a broker-


dealer, nor is he exempt from the broker-dealer certification requirement under section 25210 of the 


CSL. 
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66. Accordingly, the Commissioner is of the opinion that Richard Cox effected transactions in 


securities as a broker-dealer without having first applied for and secured from the Commissioner a 


certificate, then in effect, authorizing him to act in that capacity, in violation of section 25210 of the 


CSL.   


VIII.  VIOLATION OF CORPORATIONS CODE SECTION 25230 


UNLICENSED INVESTMENT ADVISER ACTIVITY 


(AGAINST RESPONDENT RICHARD COX) 


67. Complainant re-alleges and reincorporates by reference paragraphs 1-66 of this Statement in 


Support as though fully set forth herein. 


68. On February 2, 2009, the Commissioner advised Richard Cox in writing that his investment 


adviser certificate would be summarily revoked unless he paid the annual renewal fees or 


satisfactorily surrendered the certificate by filing a form ADV-W.   


69. On June 24, 2009, the Commissioner summarily revoked Richard Cox’s investment adviser 


registration pursuant to Corporations Code section 25242(c)(1) for failure to pay annual renewal fees 


as required by Corporations Code section 25608(q)(1).   


70. The Commissioner’s June 24, 2009 letter to Richard Cox advised: 


 This order revokes your authority to conduct any investment advisory services in this 
 state. These services include, but are not limited to, investment supervisory services, 
 portfolio management, financial planning, timing services and the issuance of periodicals or 
 reports concerning securities.  If you are presently conducting any investment advisory 
 services you must immediately cease such activities. 
 
 Please be advised that this revocation order will be entered into your Central 
 Registration  Depository (“CRD”) and Investment Adviser Registration Depository 
 (“IARD”) records.  The revocation will result in a disciplinary action against the 
 company that must be disclosed on Form ADV and Form U-4.  [Emphasis in original.]   
 
71. Although Richard Cox was advised in writing that the revocation of his investment adviser 


license would result in a “disciplinary action” requiring mandatory disclosure, he failed to report the 







 


 


________________________________________________________________________ 
STATEMENT IN SUPPORT OF ORDERS LEVYING ADMINISTRATIVE PENALTIES PURSUANT TO CORPORATIONS CODE SECTION 


25252; CLAIM FOR ANCILLARY RELIEF PURSUANT TO CORPORATIONS CODE SECTION 25254 AND DESIST AND REFRAIN ORDERS 


16


1


2


3


4


5


6


7


8


9


10


11


12


13


14


15


16


17


18


19


20


21


22


23


24


25


26


27


28


St
at


e 
of


 C
al


ifo
rn


ia
 - 


D
ep


ar
tm


en
t o


f C
or


po
ra


tio
ns


 


revocation to the Professional Fiduciaries Bureau in violation of section 4542 of the California 


Business and Professions Code. 


72. The Commissioner’s investigation has disclosed that, in addition to the minimum annual 


trustee fee that Richard Cox currently charges his trust clients, the most recent fee schedule published 


for RCFS6 sets forth an “Investment Management” fee that is separately assessed based on “¾ of 1% 


per year of market value” of the trust’s liquid assets.  Additionally, each trust client is subject to 


billing at an hourly rate of $185.00 for “other services” provided by Richard Cox. 


73. Although Richard Cox purportedly ceased citing his credentials as a registered investment 


adviser beginning as early as March 2010, the current marketing materials for RCFS continue to 


advertise that he can provide clients “assistance in security registration” and “investment 


management” services at the rate of ¾ of 1% per year of market value of the trust. 


74. The Commissioner is of the opinion that even after his California investment adviser 


registration was revoked on June 24, 2009, Richard Cox continued to provide discretionary 


investment advice to California investors and receive compensation for these investment advisory 


services under the pretenses of an “investment management” fee and hourly compensation for “other 


services” billed through RCFS, in violation of section 25230 of the CSL. 


75. As was originally expressed in the Department’s June 27, 2000 letter to Richard Cox, the 


Commissioner finds that at no time has Richard Cox been exempt from the investment adviser 


certification requirement in section 25230 of the CSL.   


IV.  ORDER LEVYING ADMINISTRATIVE PENALTIES FOR VIOLATIONS OF 


CORPORATIONS CODE SECTIONS 25110 AND 25401 


(AGAINST RESPONDENTS FIDUCIARY INVESTMENTS AND BARBARA COX)  


                     


6 The RCFS brochure provided to the Commissioner by Respondents purports to have been updated on March 10, 2010. 
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76. Complainant re-alleges and reincorporates by reference paragraphs 1-75 of this Statement in 


Support as though fully set forth herein. 


77. Corporations Code section 25252 authorizes the Commissioner to issue an order levying 


administrative penalties against any person for willful violations of any provision of the CSL and 


any rules promulgated thereunder.  Specifically, Corporations Code section 25252, subdivision (a), 


provides in relevant part: 


The commissioner may, after appropriate notice and opportunity for 
hearing, by orders, levy administrative penalties as follows:  


 
(a)  Any person subject to this division, other than a broker-dealer or 
investment adviser, who willfully violates any provision of this 
division, or who willfully violates any rule or order adopted or issued 
pursuant to this division, is liable for administrative penalties of not 
more than one thousand dollars ($1,000) for the first violation, and not 
more than two thousand five hundred dollars ($2,500) for each 
subsequent violation. 
 


78. Based on the foregoing findings of fact, the Commissioner finds that Respondents Fiduciary 


Investments, Inc. and Barbara Bailey Cox willfully violated Corporations Code section 25110 by 


offering and selling unqualified, non-exempt securities in the form of shares of stock in issuer 


transactions in this state to at least twenty-one (21) investors in this state and elsewhere, including:  


i.  M.B. Special Needs Trust 


ii.  K.B. Special Needs Trust 


iii.  B. Special Needs Trust 


iv.             A.H. Special Needs Trust 


v.  R.P. Special Needs Trust 


vi.  T.S.R. Trust 


vii.  S.B. Trust 


viii.  A. Trust 
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ix.  H.B.A. Trust 


x.  S.B. Special Needs Trust 


xi.  A.J. Special Needs Trust 


xii.  G.K. Trust 


xiii.  M. Special Needs Trust 


xiv.  F. Trust 


xv.  L. Trust 


xvi.  J.R. Trust 


xvii.  E.N. Special Needs Trust 


xviii.  M. Trust 


xix.  C.D. Trust 


xx.  R. Trust 


xxi. S.J.G. Special Needs Trust 


79. Based on the foregoing findings of fact, the Commissioner further finds that Respondents 


Fiduciary Investments, Inc. and Barbara Bailey Cox violated Corporations Code section 25401 


by offering and selling securities in the form of shares of stock, by means of any written or oral 


communication which contained misstatements and/or omitted to state material facts, to at least 


twenty-one (21) investors in this state and elsewhere, as set forth in paragraph 78 above.  


 WHEREFORE, good cause showing, and pursuant to Corporations Code section 25252, 


subdivision (a), the Commissioner prays for an order levying administrative penalties as follows: 


 a. Administrative penalties against Respondents Fiduciary Investments, Inc. and 


Barbara Bailey Cox, individually, jointly and severally, of one thousand dollars ($1,000) for the 


first violation of Corporations Code section 25110 and two thousand five hundred dollars ($2,500) 
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for each the subsequent twenty (20) violations of section 25110, as set forth in paragraph 78 above, 


for a total amount of fifty-one thousand dollars ($51,000.00); and,  


 b. Administrative penalties against Respondents Fiduciary Investments, Inc. and 


Barbara Bailey Cox, individually, jointly and severally, of two thousand five hundred dollars 


($2,500) for each of their twenty-one (21) violations of Corporations Code section 25401, as set 


forth in paragraphs 78 above, for a total amount of fifty-two thousand five hundred dollars 


($52,500).  


 The total amount of administrative penalties levied pursuant to subdivision (a) of 


Corporations Code section 25252 against Respondents Fiduciary Investments, Inc. and Barbara 


Bailey Cox, individually, jointly and severally, is one hundred and three thousand five hundred 


dollars ($103,500), or according to proof. 


IX.  ORDER LEVYING ADMINISTRATIVE PENALTIES FOR VIOLATIONS OF 


CORPORATIONS CODE SECTIONS 25110, 25401, 25241, 25404(b), 25235, 25210 AND 


25230 AND CALIFORNIA CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 10, SECTION 260.241.3 


(AGAINST RESPONDENT RICHARD COX) 


80. Complainant re-alleges and reincorporates by reference paragraphs 1-79 of this Statement in 


Support as though fully set forth herein. 


81.        The foregoing willful conduct described above serves as a basis for an order levying 


administrative penalties against Respondent Richard Cox, individually and doing business as RCFS.   


82.      Richard Cox, having applied for and secured an investment adviser certificate during the 


period the conduct alleged herein took place, from as early as May 2000 through June 2009, was 


obligated to have knowledge of and comply with the provisions of the CSL and regulations 


promulgated thereunder.   
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83. Having been employed as a registered representative with NASD-member firms, Richard 


Cox was required to pass qualifying examinations and to conform to the requirements of the CSL, 


Federal securities law, rules and regulations promulgated by the United States Securities and 


Exchange Commission and the NASD.  Richard Cox took and passed the series 6 and series 73 


examinations and was knowledgeable about the legal requirements governing those who are 


employed in the securities industry.  Richard Cox was also required by the NASD to requalify by 


examination.  As such, Richard Cox knew that either qualification or an exemption is required to 


offer and sell securities in this state and that a license is required to engage in non-exempt broker-


dealer or investment adviser activities.  Furthermore, Richard Cox continues to market his expertise 


in providing “assistance in security registration” to clients. 


84. Corporations Code section 25252, subdivision (b), authorizes the Commissioner to issue an 


order levying administrative penalties against any broker-dealer or investment adviser for willful 


violations of any provisions of the CSL and any rules promulgated thereunder.   


85. Subdivision (b) of Corporations Code section 25252 provides, in relevant part:  


The Commissioner may, after appropriate notice and opportunity for hearing, by 
order levy administrative penalties as follows: . . . 


  
(b) Any broker-dealer or investment adviser that willfully violates any 
provision of this division to which it is subject, or that willfully violates any 
rule or order adopted or issued pursuant to this division and to which it is 
subject, is liable for administrative penalties of not more than five thousand 
dollars ($5,000) for the first violation, not more than ten thousand dollars 
($10,000) for the second violation, and not more than fifteen thousand 
dollars ($15,000) for each subsequent violation….  


 
 WHEREFORE, good cause showing, and pursuant to subdivision (b) of Corporations Code 


section 25252, the Commissioner prays for an order levying administrative penalties as follows: 


 a. Five thousand dollars ($5,000) for the first violation of Corporations Code section 


25110, ten thousand dollars ($10,000) for the second violation of section 25110, and fifteen 







 


 


________________________________________________________________________ 
STATEMENT IN SUPPORT OF ORDERS LEVYING ADMINISTRATIVE PENALTIES PURSUANT TO CORPORATIONS CODE SECTION 


25252; CLAIM FOR ANCILLARY RELIEF PURSUANT TO CORPORATIONS CODE SECTION 25254 AND DESIST AND REFRAIN ORDERS 


21


1


2


3


4


5


6


7


8


9


10


11


12


13


14


15


16


17


18


19


20


21


22


23


24


25


26


27


28


St
at


e 
of


 C
al


ifo
rn


ia
 - 


D
ep


ar
tm


en
t o


f C
or


po
ra


tio
ns


 


thousand dollars ($15,000) for each of the subsequent nineteen (19) violations of section 25110, as 


set forth in paragraph 78 above, in the amount of three hundred thousand dollars ($300,000); 


 b. Fifteen thousand dollars ($15,000) for each of twenty-one (21) violations of 


Corporations Code section 25401, as set forth in paragraph 78 above, in the amount of three 


hundred and fifteen thousand dollars ($315,000); 


 c. Fifteen thousand dollars ($15,000) for violation of Corporations Code section 


25241;   


d. Fifteen thousand dollars ($15,000) for violation of California Code of 


Regulations, title 10, section 260.241.3; 


e. Fifteen thousand dollars ($15,000) for each of two (2) violations of Corporations 


Code section 25404(b) in the sum of thirty thousand dollars ($30,000), for making untrue 


statements to the Commissioner in the course of the 2000 and 2003 examinations;  


f. Fifteen thousand dollars ($15,000) for violation of Corporations Code section 


25235; 


g.  Fifteen thousand dollars ($15,000) for violation of Corporations Code section 


25210; and, 


h. Fifteen thousand dollars ($15,000) for violation of Corporations Code section 


25230.   


          The total amount of administrative penalties levied pursuant to subdivision (b) of Corporations 


Code section 25252 against Respondent Richard Albert Cox, individually and doing business as 


Richard Cox Fiduciary Services, is seven hundred and twenty thousand dollars ($720,000), or 


according to proof. 
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X.  CLAIM FOR ANCILLARY RELIEF 


(AGAINST ALL RESPONDENTS) 


86. Complainant re-alleges and reincorporates by reference paragraphs 1-85 of this Statement 


in Support as though fully set forth herein. 


87. Corporations Code section 25254 authorizes the Commissioner to seek ancillary relief on 


behalf of any person injured by violations of any provision of the CSL and any rules 


promulgated thereunder.  


88. Corporations Code section 25254 states:  


(a)  If the commissioner determines it is in the public interest, the 
commissioner may include in any administrative action brought under this 
part a claim for ancillary relief, including, but not limited to, a claim for 
restitution or disgorgement or damages on behalf of the persons injured by the 
act or practice constituting the subject matter of the action, and the 
administrative law judge shall have jurisdiction to award additional relief. 


 
(b)  In an administrative action brought under this part, the commissioner is 
entitled to recover costs, which in the discretion of the administrative law 
judge may include an amount representing reasonable attorney’s fees and 
investigative expenses for the services rendered, for deposit into the State 
Corporations Fund for the use of the Department of Corporations. 


 


89. Based on the foregoing findings of fact, the Commissioner finds that Respondents sold 


unqualified, non-exempt securities in an amount of at least four hundred and ninety thousand dollars 


($490,000) to at least twenty-one (21) California investors, as set forth in paragraph 78 above, in 


violation of Corporations Code sections 25110 and 25401 by making misstatements or omissions of 


material fact in connection with the offer and sale of said securities. 


 WHEREFORE, good cause showing and the Commissioner’s determination that this action 


is in the public interest and necessary to effectuate the Department’s primary, legitimate,  
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regulatory purpose based upon the Respondents’ violations of the CSL, the Commissioner hereby 


prays for an order of ancillary relief pursuant to Corporation Code section 25254, individually, 


jointly and severally, against Respondents as follows: 


 a. Full restitution, consisting of the investors’ principal investment in Fiduciary 


Investments, Inc. in an amount of at least four hundred and ninety thousand dollars ($490,000.00), 


or more according to proof, and interest at the legal rate, less credit to Respondents for sums 


previously paid to investors; 


 b. Disgorgement of investment advisory or “investment management” fees paid to 


Richard Albert Cox, individually and doing business as Richard Cox Fiduciary Services, during 


the period he has been unlicensed, from June 24, 2009 to present, in an amount to be determined 


according to proof, and including interest at the legal rate; and,  


 c. Recovery of reasonable attorney’s fees, investigative expenses, and costs in an 


amount of at least twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000.00), or according to proof. 


XI.  DESIST AND REFRAIN ORDER 


(AGAINST ALL RESPONDENTS) 


90. Complainant re-alleges and reincorporates by reference paragraphs 1-89 of this Statement 


in Support as though fully set forth herein. 


91. Corporations Code section 25532, in pertinent part, states:  


(a) If, in the opinion of the commissioner, (1) the sale of a security is subject to qualification 
under this law and it is being or has been offered or sold without first being qualified, the 
commissioner may order the issuer or offeror of the security to desist and refrain from the 
further offer or sale of the security until qualification has been made under this law or (2) the 
sale of a security is subject to the requirements of Section 25100.1, 25101.1, or 25102.1 and 
the security is being or has been offered or sold without first meeting the requirements of 
those sections, the commissioner may order the issuer or offeror of that security to desist and 
refrain from the further offer or sale of the security until those requirements have been met. 
 
…(c) If, in the opinion of the commissioner, a person has violated or is violating Section 
25401, the commissioner may order that person to desist and refrain from the violation. 
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92. Based upon the foregoing findings of fact, the Commissioner is of the opinion that the 


securities in the form of shares of stock offered in Fiduciary Investments, Inc. are subject to 


qualification and are being offered or have been offered or sold in this state without first being 


qualified, in violation of section 25110 of the Corporate Securities Law of 1968. 


93. The Commissioner is further of the opinion that the securities in the form of shares of stock 


in Fiduciary Investments, Inc. were offered and sold in this state by means of written or oral 


communications that included untrue statements of material fact or omitted to state material facts 


necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they 


were made, not misleading, in violation of section 25401 of the Corporate Securities Law of 1968. 


 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED EFFECTIVE IMMEDIATELY THAT: 


Pursuant to section 25532 of Corporate Securities Law of 1968, Respondents Fiduciary 


Investments, Inc., Richard Albert Cox, individually and doing business as Richard Cox Fiduciary 


Services, and Barbara Bailey Cox are hereby ordered to desist and refrain from the further offer or 


sale in the State of California of securities, including but not limited to shares or stock, unless and 


until qualification has been made under said law or unless exempt.   


And, pursuant to section 25532 of the Corporate Securities Law of 1968, Respondents 


Fiduciary Investments, Inc., Richard Albert Cox, individually and doing business as Richard Cox 


Fiduciary Services, and Barbara Bailey Cox are hereby ordered to desist and refrain from offering or 


selling any security in the State of California, including but not limited to shares or stock, by means 


of any written or oral communication which includes an untrue statement of a material fact or omits 


to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the 


circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.  
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 This Order is necessary, in the public interest, for the protection of investors and consistent 


with the purposes, policies, and provisions of the Corporate Securities Law of 1968. 


XI.  DESIST AND REFRAIN ORDER 


(AGAINST RESPONDENT RICHARD COX) 


94. Complainant re-alleges and reincorporates by reference paragraphs 1-93 of this Statement 


in Support as though fully set forth herein. 


95. Corporations Code section 25532, in pertinent part, states:  


(b) If, in the opinion of the commissioner, a person has been or is acting as a broker-dealer or 
investment adviser, or has been or is engaging in broker-dealer or investment adviser 
activities, in violation of Section 25210, 25230, or 25230.1, the commissioner may order that 
person to desist and refrain from the activity until the person has been appropriately licensed 
or the required filing has been made under this law. 
 


96. Based on the foregoing, the Commissioner is of the opinion that Richard Albert Cox, 


individually and doing business as Richard Cox Fiduciary Services, is subject to the laws regulating 


broker-dealers and investment advisers under the Corporate Securities Law of 1968 and, working 


alone or in concert or participation with others, has effected transactions in securities as a broker-


dealer, or induced or attempted to induce the purchase or sale of any security, in this state, and has 


engaged in investment adviser activities without having first applied for and secured from the 


Commissioner a certificate, then in effect, authorizing him to act in such capacity, in violation of 


sections 25210 and 25230 of the Corporate Securities Law of 1968. 


 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED EFFECTIVE IMMEDIATELY THAT: 


 Pursuant to section 25532 of the Corporate Securities Law of 1968, Richard Albert Cox, 


individually and doing business as Richard Cox Fiduciary Services, is hereby ordered to desist and 


refrain from effecting any transaction in securities as a broker-dealer, or inducing or attempting to 


induce the purchase or sale of any security, in this state, and/or engaging in investment adviser 


activities unless and until certification has been made under said laws or unless exempt. 
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 This Order is necessary, in the public interest, for the protection of investors and consistent 


with the purposes, policies, and provisions of the Corporate Securities Law of 1968. 


XII.  PRAYER 


(AGAINST RESPONDENTS FIDUCIARY INVESTMENTS AND BARBARA COX) 


WHEREFORE, good cause showing, pursuant to subdivision (a) of Corporations Code 


section 25252, the California Corporations Commissioner prays for an Order Levying 


Administrative Penalties against Respondents Fiduciary Investments, Inc. and Barbara Bailey Cox, 


individually, jointly and severally, as follows: 


Administrative penalties for violations of California Corporations Code sections 25110 and 


 25401 in the total amount of $103,500, or according to proof.  


(AGAINST RESPONDENT RICHARD COX) 


WHEREFORE, good cause showing, pursuant to subdivision (b) of Corporations Code 


section 25252, the California Corporations Commissioner prays for an Order Levying 


Administrative Penalties against Respondent, Richard Albert Cox, individually and doing business 


as Richard Cox Fiduciary Services, as follows: 


Administrative penalties for violations of California Corporations Code sections 25110, 


 25401, 25241, 25404(b), 25235, 25210 and 25230 and California Code of Regulations, title 


 10, section 260.241.3, in the total amount of $720,000, or according to proof.  


WHEREFORE, good cause showing, pursuant to Corporations Code section 25254, the 


Commissioner hereby prays for an order of ancillary relief against Respondent Richard Albert 


Cox, individually and doing business as Richard Cox Fiduciary Services, consisting of: 


Disgorgement of investment advisory or “investment management” fees paid to Richard 


 Albert Cox, individually and doing business as Richard Cox Fiduciary Services, during 
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 the period he has been unlicensed, from June 24, 2009 to present, in an amount to be 


 determined according to proof, and including interest at the legal rate. 


(AGAINST ALL RESPONDENTS) 


WHEREFORE, good cause showing, pursuant to Corporations Code section 25254, the 


Commissioner hereby prays for an order of ancillary relief against Respondents Fiduciary 


Investments, Inc., Richard Albert Cox, individually and doing business as Richard Cox 


Fiduciary Services, and Barbara Bailey Cox, individually, jointly and severally, consisting of: 


(1)  Full restitution to investors consisting of their investment principal in the amount 


 of at least $490,000, or more according to proof, and interest at the legal rate, less credit 


 to Respondents for sums previously paid to investors; and,    


 (2)  Recovery of reasonable attorney’s fees, investigative expenses, and costs in an amount 


 of at least twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000.00), or according to proof. 


 


Dated:  September 28, 2011  PRESTON DuFAUCHARD 
Los Angeles, CA                      California Corporations Commissioner 
 
 
                             By: ______________________________ 
                             ALAN S. WEINGER 
                             Deputy Commissioner    








Decision – Fiduciary Investments/Cox 


BEFORE THE 
DEPARTMENT OF CORPORATIONS 


STATE OF CALIFORNIA 
 


In the Matter of: 
 
THE CALIFORNIA CORPORATIONS 
COMMISSIONER, 
 
                                                      Complainant, 
v. 
 
FIDUCIARY INVESTMENTS, INC.; 
RICHARD ALBERT COX, individually 
and doing business as RICHARD COX 
FIDUCIARY SERVICES; and BARBARA 
BAILEY COX,  
 
                                 Respondents. 


 
 
OAH NO.  2011100520 


 
DECISION 


 
 
The attached Proposed Decision of the Administrative Law Judge of the Office of 


Administrative Hearings, dated January 11, 2012, is hereby adopted by the Department of 


Corporations as its Decision in the above-entitled matter. 


 


This Decision shall become effective on May 23, 2012. 


IT IS SO ORDERED this 23rd day of April 2012. 


 


                                         CALIFORNIA CORPORATIONS COMMISSIONER  


  
                                          _______________________________ 
                                             Jan Lynn Owen 
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THE CALIFORNIA CORPORATIONS 


COMMISSIONER, 


 
Complainant, 
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FIDUCIARY INVESTMENTS, INC.; 


RICHARD ALBERT COX, individually 


and doing business as RICHARD COX 


FIDUCIARY SERVICES; and BARBARA 


BAILEY COX, 


 
Respondents. 


 


 


OAH NO. 2011100520 


 


 
 


PROPOSED DECISION REGARDING DESIST AND REFRAIN ORDERS 


 
Karl S. Engeman, Administrative Law Judge, Office of Administrative Hearings, 


State of California, heard this matter on November 2 and 3, and December 13, 2011, in 


Sacramento, California. 


 
Erik Brunkal and Timothy LeBas, Senior Corporations Counsel, represented 


complainant. 


 
John C. Schaller, Attorney at Law, represented all of the respondents.  Richard Albert 


Cox and Barbara Bailey Cox were present during the administrative hearing. 


 
Because of statutory time limits applicable to respondents’ appeal of the 


Commissioner’s Desist and Refrain Orders, the hearing was limited to the validity of such 


orders with the understanding that further hearing dates will be arranged, if necessary, to 


address claims for ancillary relief including administrative penalties.   The administrative 


hearing concluded on November 3, 2011, and the parties agreed to submit simultaneous 


written briefs on or before November 14, 2011.  Post hearing briefs from both sides were 


received on November 14, 2011.  Complainant’s brief was marked exhibit 26 and made a 


part of the record, and respondents’ brief was marked exhibit F and made a part of the 


record.  The matter was submitted on November 14, 2011, for a Proposed Decision on the 
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Desist and Refrain Orders.  On November 18, 2011, the Administrative Law Judge ordered 


the matter reopened for the receipt of additional evidence relating to Richard Cox’s activities 


as a trustee, based on the legal authorities reviewed and the need for greater detail with 


which to decide this matter.  The parties agreed to appear on December 13, 2011, and 


evidence and oral argument were received.  Respondents were permitted to file a final brief 


in response to a document submitted by counsel for complainants on December 13, 2011. 


Respondents’ brief was received on December 15, 2011, marked exhibit I and made a part of 


the record.  The matter was submitted on December 15, 2011. 
 


 
 


FACTUAL FINDINGS 


 
1.  On September 28, 2011, complainant Preston DuFauchard,  California 


Corporations Commissioner, filed the Statement in Support of (1) Orders Levying 


Administrative Penalties Pursuant to Corporations Code Section 25252; (2) Claim for 


Ancillary Relief Pursuant to Corporations Code Section 25254; and (3) Desist and Refrain 


Orders.  Effective September 28, 2011, the Commissioner ordered respondents to desist and 


refrain from offering or selling any security in the State of California, including but not 


limited to shares of stock, by means of any written or oral communication which includes an 


untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact necessary in order to make 


the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not 


misleading.  This desist and refrain order was based upon the Commissioner’s determination 


that securities in the form of stock offered in Fiduciary Investments, Inc. were subject to 


qualification and were being offered or sold in California without first being qualified 


pursuant to section 25110 of the Corporate Securities Law of 1968. 


 
2.  The Commissioner further ordered that respondent Richard Albert Cox, 


individually, and doing business as Richard Cox Fiduciary Services, desist and refrain from 


effecting any transactions in securities as a broker-dealer, or inducing or attempting to induce 


the purchase or sale of any security, in this state, and/or engaging in investment adviser 


activities unless and until certification has been made under law or unless exempt.  This 


desist and refrain order was based upon the Commissioner’s determination that Richard 


Albert Cox, individually, and doing business as Richard Cox Fiduciary Services, effected 


transactions as a broker-dealer and engaged in investment adviser activities without securing 


from the Commissioner a certificate authorizing him to act in either capacity, in violation of 


sections 25210 and 25230 of the Corporate Securities Law of 1968. 


 
3.  Respondents filed timely Notices of Defense. 


 
4.  On August 6, 2002, respondents Richard and Barbara Cox (husband and wife) 


formed Fiduciary Investments, Inc., with Richard Cox as Director and Chief Executive 


Officer and Barbara Cox as Director and Secretary.  Richard and Barbara Cox purchased one 


share of stock each for $50.  The remaining 2,000 shares were purchased for cash by six 


trusts of which Richard Cox, individually, or doing business as Richard Cox Fiduciary 


Services, was trustee.  The total capitalization for the corporation was $100,100.00.  Richard 
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Cox formed the corporation as a vehicle to invest trust proceeds in single family residences 


to enhance the diversification of assets held by each of the trusts.  He regarded the purchase 


of rental real estate as a good investment at the time because of favorable market rents 


relative to the purchase price of such properties, expected appreciation and tax benefits for 


depreciation and other expenses against other trust income.  Richard Cox felt the trust assets 


were too small to participate in real estate investment trusts and general partnerships and his 


goal was to limit their participation to ten per cent or less of total assets. 


 
5         On or about January 4, 2002, respondent Fiduciary Investments, Inc. filed a 


Notice of Issuance of Securities with the Department of Corporations, reflecting the initial 


shareholders as Richard and Barbara Cox and the six trusts with trust shares ranging from 


200 to 600, and trust purchase prices ranging from $10,000 to $30,000.  Fiduciary 


Investments, Inc. asserted that the notice was pursuant to Corporations Code section 25102, 


subdivision (h), for issuance subject to qualification under Corporations Code section 25110, 


unless exempted.  Residential properties were purchased by Fiduciary Investments, Inc. and 


rented through a real estate management company.  After the initial sale of common stock 


and up until March of 2009, Fiduciary Investments, Inc. sold additional shares to purchase 


additional real estate.  The sales were to Richard Cox as trustee of various trusts, and the 


total number of trust “purchasers” was approximately 21.  On or about December 3, 2008, 


Richard Cox, using his eBay name style Turdel and Fundt, also purchased approximately 145 


shares of stock for approximately $14,835 to cover short term cash flow problems.  On 


March 10, 2009, he sold the shares back to Fiduciary Investments, Inc. for $8,469, an 


approximately $6,000 loss.  After the initial capitalization of the corporation, Richard Cox 


priced the shares purchased or sold based on an annual appraisal of all of the real estate 


owned by the corporation.  The annual appraisal took place on August 23 of each year and 


was performed by the real estate broker managing the properties.  Share prices at the time of 


a purchase or sale were based on the last appraisal. 


 
6.  With the decline in real estate values, Fiduciary Investments, Inc. began 


liquidating the rental properties until just one property with two houses remained unsold.  As 


properties were sold, the corporation “redeemed” the stock based on the last appraisal and 


credited the trusts with the proceeds as a return of capital.  In or about March of 2009, all of 


the shares except for the two held by Richard and Barbara Cox were transferred to two trusts 


of which Richard Cox was trustee.  Fiduciary Investments, Inc. sold shares to Richard Cox as 


trustee for the two trusts for $178, 498.  Fiduciary Investments, Inc. was dissolved on or 


about October 3, 2011, with distribution of the remaining real estate to the trusts which had 


been the last two shareholders other than Richard and Barbara Cox. These two trusts 


continue to hold title to the remaining property known as the “Portola property.” 


 
7.  Richard Cox was registered by the Department of Corporations as an 


investment adviser for approximately 15 years.  On June 24, 2009, the registration was 


summarily revoked for non-payment of renewal fees.  Richard Cox decided not to renew his 


registration because, in his opinion, he was no longer acting as an investment adviser. 
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8.  Since in or about 1998, Richard Cox has acted as a professional fiduciary 


serving as a trustee, guardian, conservator, and personal representative.  With the creation of 


the professional fiduciary license under the jurisdiction of the California Department of 


Consumer Affairs on July 1, 2008, respondent applied for a professional fiduciary license 


and became licensed as such on August 4, 2008.  As of December 13, 2011, there were 593 


professional fiduciaries licensed by the California Professional Fiduciaries Bureau. 


Respondent Richard Cox is familiar with the community of professional fiduciaries and he 


knows of none who is a licensed investment adviser. 


 
9.  Richard Cox has served as a trustee for approximately 200 trusts since the year 


2000.  Of the initial appointments, those ordered by probate courts accounted for 


approximately 60 percent.  Over time, some of these no longer required active court 


monitoring.  Approximately 85 percent of the trusts for which Richard Cox has served as 


trustee are special needs trusts.  The life beneficiary is typically someone who is disabled and 


receiving government benefits.  The trustee may purchase items needed by the beneficiary, 


but may not distribute income to him or her.  The distribution of income or the involvement 


by the beneficiary in the management of trust assets will jeopardize the receipt of the 


government benefits.  Upon the death of the special needs life beneficiary, the government 


agencies which have provided benefits are reimbursed from the trust with any remaining 


assets paid to the remainder beneficiaries.  By law, Richard Cox is required to account to the 


life beneficiaries or their representatives.  These reports, which include investments, are 


made following the period of time to which they relate.  There is no requirement that the 


trustee account to remainder beneficiaries.  As a matter of practice, respondent Richard Cox 


reports to beneficiaries on a semi-annual basis.  Respondent Richard Cox and Richard Cox 


Fiduciary Services typically charge a fee for the performance of trustee responsibilities and 


associated  liabilities (3/4 of one percent in 2008),  plus a fee for investment management of 


liquid assets (another ¾ of one percent in 2008.)  The fees are in accordance with California 


Probate Code standards. 


 
10.  As of December 13, 2011,  Richard Cox had 32 professional fiduciary 


appointments.  He is the special administrator, or personal representative, for two estates and 


was appointed as such after the previously named administrators resigned in his favor as their 


successor.  Of the remaining appointments, approximately two-thirds are special needs trusts. 


Richard Cox gained expertise in this area working with two attorneys in the Bay Area 


specializing in special needs trusts and has garnered additional appointments through other 


attorneys familiar with his reputation as a special needs trustee.  Approximately 80 per cent 


of these special needs trusts required a trustee’s bond initially, but many no longer require the 


bond because the trust assets have been reduced below the amount of the bonds initially 


posted.  Richard Cox’s remaining appointments are individual irrevocable trusts for which he 


is typically appointed as successor trustee when the named trusted is unable or unwilling to 


serve.  Richard Cox is appointed trustee at the request of the beneficiaries and the 


appointments may or may not be filed with the appropriate probate court.  Any beneficiary 


may petition the court for relief, or the answer to questions about a trustee’s activities, 


regardless of whether the trust is actively supervised by the probate court.  A beneficiary may 


seek to replace the trustee.  As an example, at the time of the last day of administrative 







5  


 


 
 


hearing, respondent Richard Cox had been temporarily removed as trustee of the Russell 


Decedents’ Trust, one of the two trusts holding title to the Portola property.  This court based 


its order on a petition filed in probate court by one of the beneficiaries alleging improprieties 


by Richard Cox’s activities as trustee in the sale of Fiduciary Investments, Inc. stock to the 


trust.  A hearing to determine whether Richard Cox should be permanently removed is 


pending. 
 


 
 


LEGAL CONCLUSIONS 


 
Sale of Unqualified Securities 


 
1.  The first ground for the issuance of a Desist and Refrain Order was the 


Commissioner’s determination that the offering and sale of shares in Fiduciary Investments, 


Inc. constituted the unlawful offer and sale of unqualified securities pursuant to section 


25110 of the Corporate Securities Law of 1968.  Corporations Code section 251101 reads: 


 
It is unlawful for any person to offer or sell in this state any security in 


an issuer transaction (other than in a transaction subject to Section 


25120), whether or not by or through underwriters, unless such sale has 


been qualified under Section 25111, 25112 or 25113 (and no order 


under Section 25140 or subdivision (a) of Section 25143 is in effect 


with respect to such qualification) or unless such security or transaction 


is exempted or not subject to qualification under Chapter 1 


(commencing with Section 25100) of this part. The offer or sale of such 


a security in a manner that varies or differs from, exceeds the scope of, 


or fails to conform with either a material term or material condition of 


qualification of the offering as set forth in the permit or qualification 


order, or a material representation as to the manner of offering which is 


set forth in the application for qualification, shall be an unqualified 


offer or sale. 


 
2.  Respondents do not dispute that the shares were securities, nor do they dispute 


that the securities were not “qualified.”  Rather, they assert that the initial offering was 


exempt from qualification pursuant to section 25102, subdivision (h), and subsequent sales 


were exempt pursuant to subdivision (f) of the same section.  Section 25102 reads, in 


pertinent part: 


 
The following transactions are exempted from the provisions of Section 


25110: 
 
 
 
 
 


 


stated. 


1 
All subsequent statutory references are to the Corporations Code, unless otherwise 
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(f) Any offer or sale of any security in a transaction (other than 


an offer or sale to a pension or profit-sharing trust of the issuer) 


that meets each of the following criteria: 


 
(1) Sales of the security are not made to more than 35 persons, 


including persons not in this state. 


 
(2) All purchasers either have a preexisting personal or business 


relationship with the offeror or any of its partners, officers, 


directors or controlling persons, or managers (as appointed or 


elected by the members) if the offeror is a limited liability 


company, or by reason of their business or financial experience 


or the business or financial experience of their professional 


advisers who are unaffiliated with and who are not compensated 


by the issuer or any affiliate or selling agent of the issuer, 


directly or indirectly, could be reasonably assumed to have the 


capacity to protect their own interests in connection with the 


transaction. 


 
(3) Each purchaser represents that the purchaser is purchasing 


for the purchaser's own account (or a trust account if the 


purchaser is a trustee) and not with a view to or for sale in 


connection with any distribution of the security. 


 
(4) The offer and sale of the security is not accomplished by the 


publication of any advertisement. The number of purchasers 


referred to above is exclusive of any described in subdivision 


(i), any officer, director, or affiliate of the issuer, or manager (as 


appointed or elected by the members) if the issuer is a limited 


liability company, and any other purchaser who the 


commissioner designates by rule. For purposes of this section, a 


husband and wife (together with any custodian or trustee acting 


for the account of their minor children) are counted as one 


person and a partnership, corporation, or other organization that 


was not specifically formed for the purpose of purchasing the 


security offered in reliance upon this exemption, is counted as 


one person. The commissioner may by rule require the issuer to 


file a notice of transactions under this subdivision. 


 
The failure to file the notice or the failure to file the notice 


within the time specified by the rule of the commissioner shall 


not affect the availability of this exemption. An issuer who fails 


to file the notice as provided by rule of the commissioner shall, 


within 15 business days after discovery of the failure to file the 


notice or after demand by the commissioner, whichever occurs 
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first, file the notice and pay to the commissioner a fee equal to 


the fee payable had the transaction been qualified under Section 


25110. 


 
(h) Any offer or sale of voting common stock by a corporation 


incorporated in any state if, immediately after the proposed sale 


and issuance, there will be only one class of stock of the 


corporation outstanding that is owned beneficially by no more 


than 35 persons, provided all of the following requirements have 


been met: 


 
(1) The offer and sale of the stock is not accompanied by the 


publication of any advertisement, and no selling expenses have 


been given, paid, or incurred in connection therewith. 


 
(2) The consideration to be received by the issuer for the stock 


to be issued consists of any of the following: 


 
(A) Only assets (which may include cash) of an existing 


business enterprise transferred to the issuer upon its initial 


organization, of which all of the persons who are to receive the 


stock to be issued pursuant to this exemption were owners 


during, and the enterprise was operated for, a period of not less 


than one year immediately preceding the proposed issuance, and 


the ownership of the enterprise immediately prior to the 


proposed issuance was in the same proportions as the shares of 


stock are to be issued. 


 
(B) Only cash or cancellation of indebtedness for money 


borrowed, or both, upon the initial organization of the issuer, 


provided all of the stock is issued for the same price per share. 


 
(C) Only cash, provided the sale is approved in writing by each 


of the existing shareholders and the purchaser or purchasers are 


existing shareholders. 


 
(D) In a case where after the proposed issuance there will be 


only one owner of the stock of the issuer, only any legal 


consideration. 


 
(3) No promotional consideration has been given, paid, or 


incurred in connection with the issuance. Promotional 


consideration means any consideration paid directly or 


indirectly to a person who, acting alone or in conjunction with 


one or more other persons, takes the initiative in founding and 
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organizing the business or enterprise of an issuer for services 


rendered in connection with the founding or organizing. 


 
(4) A notice in a form prescribed by rule of the commissioner, 


signed by an active member of the State Bar of California, is 


filed with or mailed for filing to the commissioner not later than 


10 business days after receipt of consideration for the securities 


by the issuer. That notice shall contain an opinion of the member 


of the State Bar of California that the exemption provided by this 


subdivision is available for the offer and sale of the securities. 


The failure to file the notice as required by this subdivision and 


the rules of the commissioner shall not affect 


the availability of this exemption. An issuer who fails to file the 


notice within the time specified by this subdivision shall, within 


15 business days after discovery of the failure to file the notice 


or after demand by the commissioner, whichever occurs first, 


file the notice and pay to the commissioner a fee equal to the fee 


payable had the transaction been qualified under Section 25110. 


The notice, except when filed on behalf of a California 


corporation, shall be accompanied by an irrevocable consent, in 


the form that the commissioner by rule prescribes, appointing 


the commissioner or his or her successor in office to be the 


issuer's attorney to receive service of any lawful process in any 


noncriminal suit, action, or proceeding against it or its successor 


that arises under this law or any rule or order hereunder after the 


consent has been filed, with the same force and validity as if 


served personally on the issuer. An issuer on whose behalf a 


consent has been filed in connection with a previous 


qualification or exemption from qualification under this law (or 


application for a permit under any prior law if the application or 


notice under this law states that the consent is still effective) 


need not file another. Service may be made by leaving a copy of 


the process in the office of the commissioner, but it is not 


effective unless (A) the plaintiff, who may be the commissioner 


in a suit, action, or proceeding instituted by him or her, 


forthwith sends notice of the service and a copy of the process 


by registered or certified mail to the defendant or respondent at 


its last address on file with the commissioner, and (B) the 


plaintiff's affidavit of compliance with this section is filed in the 


case on or before the return day of the process, if any, or within 


the further time as the court allows. 
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(5) Each purchaser represents that the purchaser is purchasing 


for the purchaser's own account, or a trust account if the 


purchaser is a trustee, and not with a view to or for sale in 


connection with any distribution of the stock. 


 
For the purposes of this subdivision, all securities held by a 


husband and wife, whether or not jointly, shall be considered to 


be owned by one person, and all securities held by a corporation 


that has issued stock pursuant to this exemption shall be 


considered to be held by the shareholders to whom it has issued 


the stock. 


 
All stock issued by a corporation pursuant to this subdivision as 


it existed prior to the effective date of the amendments to this 


section made during the 1996 portion of the 1995-96 Regular 


Session that required the issuer to have stamped or printed 


prominently on the face of the stock certificate a legend in a 


form prescribed by rule of the commissioner restricting transfer 


of the stock in a manner provided for by that rule shall not be 


subject to the transfer restriction legend requirement and, by 


operation of law, the corporation is authorized to remove that 


transfer restriction legend from the certificates of those shares of 


stock issued by the corporation pursuant to this subdivision as it 


existed prior to the effective date of the amendments to this 


section made during the 1996 portion of the 1995-96 Regular 


Session. 


 
3.  Section 25163 imposes on respondents the burden of establishing an 


exemption from the requirements of section 25110.   Counsel for complainant argued that 


respondents have failed to establish exemptions under either subdivision (f) or (h) of section 


25102.  Counsel for complainant asserted that the “purchasers” were the trust beneficiaries, 


not respondent Richard Cox in his capacity as trustee.  Thus, to establish a subdivision (f) 


exemption, Richard Cox must have had a “preexisting personal or business relationship” 


with the beneficiaries or establish that they were sufficiently sophisticated investors to 


protect their own interests.  Respondent Richard Cox countered that he was the purchaser in 


his capacity as trustee, and he was therefore essentially selling shares of the corporate stock 


(which he and his wife managed) to himself. 


 
Subparagraph (f) Exemption 


 
4.  The Commissioner has promulgated regulations implementing and interpreting 


subdivision (f) of section 25102.  California Code of Regulations, title 10 (Regulation), 


section 260.102.12, applies to the subdivision (f).  The word “purchaser” is defined as “a 


person who acquires a beneficial ownership of the security, whether individually or in joint 


ownership.”  The phrase “beneficial ownership” is not defined in the regulations, but 
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complainant noted that the definition of that phrase as used in subdivision (h) of section 


25102 is defined by Regulation section 260.102.5 and suggested that the same definition 


should be adopted.  Regulation section 260.102.5 provides that “securities held by a trustee 


shall be considered to be owned beneficially by each of the beneficiaries, present, future, and 


contingent of the trust” (excluding future and contingent beneficiaries related by blood or 


marriage).  This language of the regulation makes clear that it was promulgated to interpret 


the phrase as used in the first paragraph of subdivision (h) of section 25102 requiring the 


stock to be “owned beneficially by no more than 35 persons.”  By contrast, a subdivision (f) 


exemption applies if sales of stock “are not made to more than 35 persons.”  More 


importantly, another criterion for the exemption in subparagraph (3) of subdivision (f) reads: 


“Each purchaser represents that the purchaser is purchasing for the purchaser’s own account 


(or a trust account if the purchaser is a trustee) and not with a view to or for sale in 


connection with any distribution of the security.”
2   


Subparagraph (5) of subdivision (h) of 


section 25102 includes identical language, although the reference to a trust account is not in 


parentheses.  Therefore, while the regulations create some ambiguity regarding the meaning 


of the term “purchaser” in subdivision (f), as least for purposes of counting the offerees or 


purchasers, the Legislature regards a trustee as the purchaser as reflected in the language 


quoted above. 


 
5.  Assuming respondent Richard Cox was the purchaser, all of the criteria for a 


section 25102 exemption were established by respondents.  The sales were made to trustee 


Richard Cox and to Richard and Barbara Cox, individually, so there were less than 35 


purchasers even if one counts each of the trusts who eventually bought shares.
3   


The second 


requirement was met because the sale of shares was made by Fiduciary Services, Inc. 


managed by Richard Cox to Richard Cox as trustee, and the required preexisting personal or 


business relationship or demonstrated business acumen on the part of the purchaser is not 


applicable.  Complainant characterized this situation as a “silly contortion of law” and a 


“legal impossibility.”  However, corporate officers and directors who purchase shares in their 


own companies are in the same situation. 


 
6.  Even if one were to adopt complainant’s argument that the purchasers 


were the trust beneficiaries, respondent Richard Cox had a “personal and business 


relationship” with them of the strongest sort.  He had a legally imposed fiduciary duty 


to them to manage their assets in a reasonably prudent manner.  Regulation section 


260.102.12, subsection (d)(1), provides that preexisting personal or business 


relationship includes “any relationship consisting of personal or business contacts of a 


nature and duration such as would enable a reasonably prudent purchaser to be aware 


of the character, business acumen and general business and financial circumstances of 


the person with whom such relationship exists.”  This test is intended to protect 


investors by placing on the offeror the burden of establishing that the nature and 


 
2 


Parentheses in original. 
 


3 
Richard and Barbara Cox are excluded from the count as officers and directors of 


the issuer in accordance with subparagraph (4) of subdivision (f) of section 25102. 
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duration of the relationship is one that would enable a reasonably prudent investor to 


assess the general business and financial circumstances of the issuer. (People v. Simon 


(1995) 9 Cal.4th 493, 503 at footnote 8.)  Richard Cox was appointed as a trustee 


based on his reputation as a professional fiduciary, including his demonstrated 


expertise in managing trust assets.  This is not a situation in which Richard Cox sold 


securities to members of the general public or casual acquaintances.  In closing 


arguments, counsel for complainant focused on the obvious inability of special needs 


beneficiaries to manage trust assets, but the exemption in subparagraph (2) of 


subdivision (f) includes not only sales to sophisticated investors who can take care of 


themselves, but also sales by those whose character and business reputation are known 


to purchasers by reason of a preexisting personal or business relationship.  This part of 


the exemption obviously does not require that the purchaser demonstrate such business 


acumen. 


 
7.  Richard Cox, as trustee, purchased the shares for the trust accounts and not in 


contemplation of a sale “in connection with any distribution of the security.”  That additional 


shares were sold to other trusts over the years to purchase more rental property, and shares 


were ultimately redeemed and sold to the two remaining trusts, does not negate the intent to 


purchase the shares for the trustee’s account and not for resale.  The sales of shares in 


Fiduciary Investments, Inc. were not accomplished by the publication of any advertisement. 


 
Subparagraph (h) Exemption 


 
8.  The sales of shares in Fiduciary Investments, Inc. may have qualified for the 


exemption in subdivision (h) of 25102, but respondents did not establish that the total 


number of beneficiaries of the trusts, excluding relatives and spouses, did not exceed 35 


immediately after the sales of shares of voting common stock.  There was no publication of 


the offer or sale and no selling expenses were incurred, consideration was cash only, no 


promotional consideration was paid or incurred, the required attorney notice was submitted, 


and trustee Richard Cox purchased the shares for the trust accounts and not for resale. 


 
9.  The sale of shares in Fiduciary Investments, Inc. by respondents was exempt 


pursuant to section 25102, subdivision (f).  Therefore, there is no valid basis for a Desist and 


Refrain Order based on allegations that respondents sold unqualified securities. 


 
Whether Respondents Were Broker-Dealers or Investment Advisers 


 
10.  The second ground for a Desist and Refrain Order was the Commissioner’s 


determination that respondent Richard Cox, individually and doing business as Richard Cox 


Fiduciary Services, effected transactions as a broker-dealer and engaged in investment 


adviser activities without being authorized by the Commissioner to act in either capacity. 


These contentions will be addressed separately. 
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Broker- Dealer Contention 


 
11.  Section 25004 defines a “broker-dealer” and reads: 


 
(a) “Broker-dealer” means any person engaged in the business of 


effecting transactions in securities in this state for the account of others 


or for his own account. “Broker-dealer” also includes a person engaged 


in the regular business of issuing or guaranteeing options with regard to 


securities not of his own issue. “Broker-dealer” does not include any of 


the following: 


 
(1) Any other issuer. 


 
(2) An agent, when an employee of a broker-dealer or issuer. 


(3) A bank, trust company, or savings and loan association. 


(4) Any person insofar as he buys or sells securities for his own 


account, either individually or in some fiduciary capacity, but not as 


part of a regular business. 


 
(5) A person who has no place of business in this state if he effects 


transactions in this state exclusively with (A) the issuers of the 


securities involved in the transactions or (B) other broker-dealers. 


 
(6) A broker licensed by the Real Estate Commissioner of this state 


when engaged in transactions in securities exempted by subdivision (f) 


or (p) of Section 25100 or in securities the issuance of which is subject 


to authorization by the Real Estate Commissioner of this state or in 


transactions exempted by subdivision (e) of Section 25102. 


 
(7) An exchange certified by the Commissioner of Corporations 


pursuant to this section when it is issuing or guaranteeing options. The 


commissioner may by order certify an exchange under this section 


upon such conditions as he by rule or order deems appropriate, and 


upon notice and opportunity to be heard he may suspend or revoke such 


certification, if he finds such certification, suspension, or revocation to 


be in the public interest and necessary and appropriate for the 


protection of investors. 


 
(b) For purposes of this section, an agent is an employee of a broker- 


dealer under paragraph (2) of subdivision (a) when the agent is 


employed by or associated with the broker-dealer under all of the 


following conditions: 
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(1) The agent is subject to the supervision and control of the broker- 


dealer. 


 
(2) The agent performs under the name, authority, and marketing 


policies of the broker-dealer. 


(3) The agent discloses to investors the identity of the broker- dealer. 


(4) The agent is reported pursuant to subdivision (c) of Section 25210 


and the rules adopted thereunder. 
 


12.  Respondent Richard Cox argued that he is not engaged in the business 


of effecting transactions in securities in this state for the account of others or for his 


own account.  He also maintained that he is exempt pursuant to subparagraphs (1), (3) 


and (4) of subparagraph (a).  Counsel for complainant argued that by purchasing and 


selling Fiduciary Investments, Inc. shares on behalf of the trusts for which he served 


as trustee, respondent Richard Cox effected transactions in securities for others. 
Counsel for complainant asserted respondent Richard Cox has not met his burden of 


establishing that any exemption applies. 


 
13.  Respondent’s Richard Cox’s activities do not fall within the definition 


of a broker-dealer, and even if they do, he is exempt.  Respondent did not “engage in 


the business of effecting transactions in securities” when he invested trust funds in 


Fiduciary Investments, Inc.  His business was that of a professional fiduciary, charged 


with the obligation to invest trust assets in diverse areas including securities.  He was 


compensated for his management of trust assets, not for the purchase and sale of 


securities as an incidental part of is trustee responsibilities.  Further, if respondent 


Richard Cox’s activities did fall within the general definition of a broker-dealer, he 


would be exempt under subparagraph (4) of subdivision (a).  That subparagraph 


exempts any “person insofar as he buys or sells securities for his own account, either 


individually or in some fiduciary capacity, but not as part of a regular business.” 


Respondent Richard Cox bought and sold securities for his own accounts, as trustee, 


in his professional fiduciary capacity as such.  As noted, he was not in the “business” 


of buying and selling securities, but did so as one part of his fiduciary responsibilities. 


The other exemptions raised by respondent Richard Cox do not apply.  He was not an 


“issuer” when he purchased securities from Fiduciary Investments, Inc.  He was not a 


trust company (corporation) licensed by the California Department of Financial 


Institutions pursuant to Financial Code section 350. 


 
Investment Adviser 


 
14.  Section 25230 defines an investment adviser as follows: 


 
(a) ‘Investment adviser’ means any person who, for compensation, 


engages in the business of advising others, either directly or through 
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publications or writings, as to the value of securities or as to the 


advisability of investing in, purchasing or selling securities, or who, for 


compensation and as a part of a regular business, publishes analyses or 


reports concerning securities. ‘Investment adviser’ does not include (1) 


a bank, trust company or savings and loan association; (2) an attorney 


at law, accountant, engineer or teacher whose performance of these 


services is solely incidental to the practice of his or her profession; (3) 


an associated person of an investment adviser; (4) a broker-dealer or 


agent of a broker-dealer whose performance of these services is solely 


incidental to the conduct of the business of a broker-dealer and who 


receives no special compensation for them; or (5) a publisher of any 


bona fide newspaper, news magazine or business or financial 


publication of general, regular and paid circulation and the agents and 


servants thereof, but this paragraph (5) does not exclude any such 


person who engages in any other activity which would constitute that 


person an investment adviser within the meaning of this section. 


 
(b) ‘Investment adviser’ also includes any person who uses the title 


‘financial planner’ and who, for compensation, engages in the business, 


whether principally or as part of another business, of advising others, 


either directly or through publications or writings, as to the value of 


securities or as to the advisability of investing in, purchasing or selling 


securities, or who, for compensation and as part of a regular business, 


publishes analyses or reports concerning securities. This subdivision 


does not apply to: (1) a bank, trust company, or savings and loan 


association; (2) an attorney at law, accountant, engineer, or teacher 


whose performance of these services is solely incidental to the practice 


of his or her profession, so long as these individuals do not use the title 


“financial planner;” (3) an associated person of an investment adviser 


where the investment adviser is licensed or exempt from licensure 


under this law; (4) an agent of a broker-dealer where the broker-dealer 


is licensed or exempt from licensure under this law, so long as (A) the 


performance of these services by the agent is solely incidental to the 


conduct of the business of the broker-dealer, and (B) the agent receives 


no special compensation for the performance of these services; or (5) a 


publisher set forth in paragraph (5) of subdivision (a), so long as the 


publisher or the agents and servants of the publisher are not engaged in 


any other activity which would constitute that person an investment 


adviser within the meaning of this section. 


 
15.  Complainant established, and respondent Richard Cox does not dispute, that 


respondent Richard Cox’s investment adviser license lapsed and was revoked June 24, 2009. 


Counsel for complainant view respondent Richard Cox’s trustee’ fees based in part on the 


value of the trust assets administered as compensation for “advising” beneficiaries (whom 


complainant characterizes as “clients”) about the value and advisability of investing in 
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securities.  Counsel for complainant point to the letter accompanying the required trustee 


annual report that respondent typically sent to trust beneficiaries or their representatives 


commenting on his investment strategies and the performance of the trust portfolios when 


compared to standard market indexes.  However, respondent was not “advising” anyone 


regarding the value of securities or strategies for investing.  The letters accompanied the 


annual reports that respondent Richard Cox was required to send to beneficiaries reflecting 


the investment decisions he had already made.  He did not consult with beneficiaries about 


such decisions, and consultation with the special need trust beneficiaries would have 


jeopardized the viability of such trusts and the government benefits received by the 


beneficiaries. 
 


16.  Counsel for complainant point out that the California Corporations 


Commissioner often looks to federal securities laws and the interpretations of the Security 


and Exchange Commission (S.E.C.) and its staff for interpretation of the California 


Securities Law in the absence of relevant California law.  Section 202 (a) (11) (F) of the 


federal Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. 80b-2(a)(11)) defines an investment 


adviser as “any person who, for compensation, engages in the business of advising others, 


either directly or through publications or writings, as to the value of securities or as to the 


advisability of investing in, purchasing, or selling securities or who, for compensation and as 


part of a regular business, issues or promulgates analyses or reports concerning securities.” 


Excluded are lawyers, accountants, engineers and teachers whose performance of these 


services is “solely incidental to the practice of [their professions].”  Clearly, the federal 


definition is substantially similar to that embodied in California law.  Unfortunately, 


interpretation of the federal law is not so clear. 
 


17.  The S.E.C. issued its own opinion in “In the Matter of Augustus P. Loring, 


Jr.” (11 S.E.C 885; July 20, 1942), shortly after the enactment of the Investment Advisers 


Act.  The Commission opined that : 
 


An individual who is primarily engaged in the business of acting 


as a professional trustee under judicial appointment, appointments 


under trust indentures or pursuant to powers of attorney, who derives 


most of his income from acting as trustee under judicial appointments 


and under irrevocable trust indentures, who manages and administers 


personal property and real property in addition to the supervision of 


securities and who does not hold himself out as giving advice to others 


as to securities, held, not an investment adviser within the meaning of 


Section 202(a)(11) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940. 
 


18.  The Commission, in the recitation of facts underlying the opinion, noted that 


most of Mr. Loring’s business consisted of acting as a court fiduciary, i.e., trustee, guardian, 


conservator, or executor under wills or other instruments filed with and under supervision of 


the courts.  As such, he was required to give a bond and account to the courts for their 


approval.  His compensation, when under court supervision, was in accordance with that 


permitted by the courts.  As trustee, he held legal title to the personal and real property 
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administered in the trust.  His obligations as trustee exceeded supervision of investments. 


The recited facts are obviously very similar to those involved in this matter. 
 


19.  In Selzer v. Bank of Bermuda Ltd., (D.C. N.Y.1974) 385 F.Supp.415, a federal 


District Court, citing Loring, held that a trustee is not an investment adviser.  The court 


adopted the reasoning advanced by respondents in this matter, that the trustee is the legal 


owner of the trust corpus, while the beneficiary is the equitable owner.  The trustee does not 


advise the trust corpus to take action; rather, he acts himself as principal.  The court 


concluded that while there may be public policy reasons for holding trustees to the standards 


of the Investment Advisers Act, the common sense meaning of the word “adviser” does not 


compel that interpretation.  The District Court rejected the S.E.C. staff opinion in Brewer- 


Burner Associates, Inc. in which the Commission’s Division of Investment Management 


determined that a Panamanian trustee of Panamanian trusts to be set up by American 


investors to invest in Mexican government and other securities would be an investment 


adviser within the meaning of the Act. 
 


20.  On July 22, 1976, the Commission’s Division of Investment Management 


Regulations issued a “No Action Letter” regarding Philip Eiseman ((Fed. Sec. L. Rep. p. 80, 


914).  The Division offered that Mr. Eiseman’s work as a professional trustee with 


discretionary authority over investments constituted the provision of advisory services to the 


trusts for compensation and for the benefit of beneficiaries of the trusts.  The Commission’s 


staff asserted that the Loring opinion applied only to Mr. Loring and that the Commission’s 


opinon was based on specific facts and circumstances including that most of Mr. Loring’s 


business consisted of judicial appointments as a trustee by which he acted as a court 


fiduciary subject to court supervision. 
 


21.  In a January 31, 1983 “No Action Letter” regarding Joseph J. Nameth (Fed. 


Sec. L.Rep.1983), the Commission’s Division of Investment Management wrote that one 


who, for compensation, is engaged in investment management with the discretionary power 


to buy and sell securities is an investment adviser even if the business is operated through the 


medium of trusts.  Compensation included the fee for administration of the trusts, and no 


separate fee for investment advice was necessary to meet the definition of an investment 


adviser.  According to the Division, Loring was limited to persons whose business was 


mostly acting as a court-appointed fiduciary, and as such, required to give a bond upon 


acceptance of each trust in an amount sufficient to protect the trust assets and required to 


account to the courts.  The Division also stated that it disagreed with the Selzer decision 


affecting a “private trust,” in which the court, according to the Division, was of the mistaken 


impression that it was the Commission’s position that at trustee was not an investment 


adviser within the meaning of the Investment Act.  The Nameth facts involved the creation of 


a number or inter vivos revocable trusts, revocable at will by the settlors. The trustee was to 


be given actual title to all property placed held in the trusts.  The trustee was to have broad 


discretionary power to invest, and not limited to conservative investments, and the settlors 


would be able to elect what types of instruments the trustee could use. 







17  


 


 
 


22.  In Abrahamson v. Fleschner  (2nd Cir. 1975), 568 F.2d 862, the United States 


Court of Appeal for the Second Circuit was faced with the question whether a private action 


for fraud could be implied from the federal Investment Adviser Act of 1940.  The answer 


depended, in the first instance, on whether the defendants were “investment advisers” under 


the Act.  As noted above, the definition of an investment adviser under federal law is 


substantially the same as the first sentence of subparagraph (a) of Corporations Code section 


25230 cited above.  The Abrahamson facts involved a limited partnership established by the 


general partners for investments.  The general partners controlled the manner in which the 


partnership funds were invested.  The partnership agreement provided that their 


compensation was 20 percent of the net profits and capital gains each fiscal year plus a salary 


of $25,000.  The general partners issued a brief monthly report to the limited partners 


showing the percentage gain or loss of partnership assets and a comparison to the Standard 


and Poors 500 Stock Average.  The monthly reports also included a statement of investment 


policy.  General partner representations regarding investment policy, i.e. “low risk stance” 


and “a most conservative posture,” formed the basis for plaintiff limited partners’ allegations 


of fraud after learning that the defendant general partners had invested heavily in high-risk 


securities.  The federal Investment Adviser Act makes it unlawful for investment advisers to 


defraud clients or prospective clients.  The general partners also sent limited partners a 


certified yearly financial report.  Limited partners could withdraw any or all of their fund 


balances at the end of each fiscal year with 30 or 60 days’ notice depending on the time of 


year. 
 


23.  The Second Circuit Court of Appeal held that the general partners were 


investment advisers.  They received substantial compensation for management of the limited 


partners’ investments.  The remaining question under the federal statute was whether the 


general partners were engaged in the business of advising “others” with respect to 


investments.  The court held that they were on two grounds.  First, the monthly reports 


provided investment advice to limited partners.  The general partner income depended upon 


the size of the investment pool and limited partners necessarily relied upon the monthly 


reports to decide whether to withdraw their funds from the partnership.  Second, the general 


partner activities met the plain language of the statute defining an investment adviser.  The 


Court recited legislative history (including an S.E.C. report) relating to the Investment 


Adviser Act of 1940 and later amendments reflecting its remedial purpose to curb abuses 


revealed by the stock market crash of 1929.
4   


The Court concluded that from the start, the 


Act was designed to regulate those who exercise control over purchases and sales with client 


funds, as this is the method by which they “advise” clients. (Abrahamson, at p. 871.) 
 


24.  On January 6, 1995, in an unpublished opinion (1995 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 


22352), the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Michigan, Southern 


Division, decided S.E.C. v. Smith.
5   


The action by the S.E.C. was very similar to this matter. 
 


 
4 


The S.E.C. submitted an Amicus Curiae brief to the Court at the Court’s invitation. 
5 A California state court (and presumably the California Corporations Commissioner) 


may rely upon unpublished federal District Court decisions as persuasive and not preceden- 


tial. (Olinick v. BMG Entertainment (2006) 138 Cal. App.4th 1286, 1301.) 
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The Commission alleged that Smith had acted as an unregistered investment adviser (under 


the federal Advisers Act), had failed to provide adequate safeguards for client funds, did not 


maintain required books and records, failed to furnish disclosure documents, and failed to 


include a required non-assignability clause in client contracts.  The Commission sought a 


permanent injunction and civil penalties.  Smith contended that he was not an investment 


adviser.  The facts in Smith are quite similar to those in Abrahamson, except that Smith held 


the investor funds in a “living” trust established by him and for which he served as trustee. 


Smith discussed clients’ investment goals with them when opening a new account and 


included the goals in an account management agreement that clients signed.  The agreement 


granted Smith exclusive and discretionary control of the funds invested by clients.  The 


agreement was revocable by either party upon 30 days- notice.  Smith issued statements to 


clients on either a monthly or quarterly basis.  From time to time, Smith encouraged clients 


towards certain investments.  Smith’s fees were calculated monthly based on one-half of one 


percent of the month ending value of the client’s assets.  The District Court ruled that Smith 


was an investment adviser and granted the relief sought by the Commission including the 


issuance of an injunction.  The Court relied upon the Abrahamson decision and rejected 


Smith’s assertion that his activities fell within the Loring exception.  The District Court 


distinguished Loring, noting that Loring’s business consisted mainly of acting as a court 


fiduciary under wills and instruments filed with and under court supervision.  The Court 


pointed out that none of Smith’s business was performed under court supervision and all of it 


was performed under powers of attorney.  The Court noted that the Abrahamson holdings 


applied to Smith because, like the general partners in Abrahamson, Smith sent clients 


investment performance reports and clients had the ability to withdraw money based on the 


reports.   Smith, the court noted, went beyond the general partners as he encouraged clients 


to have him invest their money in particular types of investments. 
 


25.  From these authorities, several principles may be gleaned which are helpful to 


the resolution of this matter.   First, the regulation of investment advisers is remedial, 


designed by Congress (and presumably California) to curb abuses by those whose business 


depends on advising others regarding investments in securities.  As remedial legislation, the 


federal law has generally been interpreted in an expansive manner, resolving ambiguities 


regarding coverage of the act in favor of inclusion, for the benefit of investors.  Thus, the 


manner in which client assets are held has not been a significant determining factor in 


deciding whether one has acted as an investment adviser.  The management of trust assets, at 


least those in which the settlors retain the power to revoke the trust, may subject a trustee to 


regulation.  There is also no requirement that the adviser consult with investors on a regular 


basis about investment decisions.  Investment advisers include those who have exclusive 


discretionary power to manage investments, at least so long as the investors have the ability 


to withdraw funds.  Also, the formula by which the investor is compensated has not been a 


major issue in deciding whether one manages investments “for compensation.” 
 


26.  The one exception to coverage, carved out by the S.E.C. (as opposed to its 


enforcement staff), has been the investment in securities in the context of a trustee’s 


administration of trust assets under court direction and with the safeguards inherent in such 


assignments.  While the Commission’s Loring opinion is nearly as old as the federal 
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Investment Adviser Act of 1940 itself, it has never been vitiated by the Commission and 


even the later opinion letters by the Commission’s staff have sought to distinguish the 


Loring facts from those in cases in which the staff has concluded that the activities were 


those of an investment adviser.  The District Court in Selzer relied upon Loring when 


concluding that a trustee is not an investment adviser, although the court’s rationale based 


on the manner in which the trustee held assets as the principal, may no longer be viable. 


The more enduring rationale, enunciated in Loring, and at least implicitly recognized in the 


opinion letters of the Commission’s enforcement staff, is the oversight of court created or 


sanctioned trusts by the courts with strict accountability provisions and bonding 


requirements for trustees to protect beneficiaries. 
 


27.  California has taken an additional regulatory step.  In 2007, the California 


Legislature enacted the Professional Fiduciaries Act, Business and Professions Code section 


6500 et seq., effective January 1, 2009.  The Act requires that conservators and guardians for 


more than two persons and trustees and those acting under specified powers of attorneys for 


more than three persons or families must be licensed as professional fiduciaries by the 


California Department of Consumer Affairs.  It is notable that investment advisers registered 


with the Department of Corporations are exempt so long as their sole business is investment 


advice.  Concurrent changes were also made to the California Probate Code which now 


prohibit the court’s appointment of a person to carry out the duties of a professional fiduciary 


without having a license to do so or an exemption.
6   


The Act created the Professional 


Fiduciary Bureau within the Department of Consumer Affairs whose powers include the 


ability to discipline a licensee for misconduct including “fraud, dishonesty, corruption, 


willful violation of duty, gross negligence, or incompetence in practice, or unprofessional 


conduct in, or related to, the practice of a professional fiduciary.” (Business and Professions 


Code section, 6584, subparagraph (d).)  The Department of Consumer Affairs has 


promulgated regulations to interpret and implement the statutory provisions relating to 


professional fiduciaries, e.g., California Code of Regulations, title 16, section 4476, requiring 


licensees to avoid conflicts of interest. 
 


28.  Respondents Richard Cox and Richard Cox, doing business as Richard Cox 
Fiduciary Services, were not acting as investment advisers and this ground for the issuance 


of a Desist and Refrain Order cannot be affirmed.
7   


The Abrahamson court reached the 
opposite conclusion in its interpretation of very similar language in the federal Investment 


 
 


6 
This prohibition was effective July 1, 2008. 


 
7 


Respondents suggested during closing oral arguments on December 13, 2011, that 


this issue may be moot because respondent Richard Cox was licensed as an investment ad- 


viser until June 24, 2009, which would encompass virtually all of the purchases and sales of 


Fiduciary Investment, Inc. stock.  However, complainant’s position is that respondents’ did 


not comply with applicable investment adviser regulatory requirements,  and management of 


trust investments and the annual reports that respondent Richard Cox continues to provide 


beneficiaries require respondents to be licensed as investment advisers. Thus, the matter is 


not moot. 
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Adviser Act of 1940.  As noted above, the case involved a limited partnership established for 


the express purpose of managing investments, and the court’s analysis included that the 


activities of the general partners fit within the plain language of the federal statute.   In 


contrast, respondents’ activities do not fit within the plain language of section 25230. 


Respondents were not engaged “in the business of advising others… as to the value of 


securities or as to the advisability of investing in, purchasing or selling securities.”   Nor 


were they publishing analyses or reports concerning securities “as part of a regular business.” 


Although respondents cannot technically qualify under the “trust company” express 


exemption, as professional fiduciaries, 2009, the newly created that is their business.  The 


professional fiduciary responsibilities include the management of trust assets, including 


securities, but unlike the situations in which courts and the S.E.C. have determined that 


persons or entities were acting as investment activities, those with “beneficial ownership” did 


not place the assets in the hands of respondents to manage investments while retaining the 


power to withdraw all or part of the trust assets depending on the performance of the trustee. 


Moreover, the Loring exception, accepted by the S.E.C. and courts, is primarily justified by 


the supervision inherent in court monitored trusts.  Whether court supervision is active or 


passive, all of the trusts managed by respondents are subject to court oversight.   Many 


initially required a bond to protect the beneficiaries, although most of the special needs trusts 


no longer include such a requirement because of the diminution of trust assets paid out for 


the benefit of the special needs life beneficiary.  And, as noted, California has added another 


layer of consumer protection by requiring all professional fiduciaries to be licensed and 


subject to discipline for violations of professional standards including those dealing with 


conflicts of interest. 
 


29.  None of the three grounds for the issuance of a Desist and Refrain Order was 


established by counsel for complainant.  Thus, the Desist and Refrain Orders previously 


issued should be dissolved.  Each of the grounds presented complex legal issues and sub- 


issues and applicable law is anything but clear.  The thrust of complainant’s case was the 


underlying premise that the trust beneficiaries are unprotected from alleged self -dealing and 


fraud by respondents unless respondents’ investment decisions are regulated by the 


Commissioner for the benefit of the beneficiaries.  However, respondents have not been 


acting in a regulatory vacuum as each of the trusts for which respondent Richard Cox and 


Richard Cox Fiduciary Services serves as trustee is subject to the supervision of California 


probate courts with the power to address claims of inappropriate conduct and to provide 


relief.  One probate court recently did so with the temporary removal of respondent Richard 


Cox as trustee for the Russell Decedents’ Trust.  As of 2009, the newly created Professional 


Fiduciary Bureau of the California Department of Consumer Affairs licenses and regulates 


professional fiduciaries including respondents Richard Cox and Richard Cox Fiduciary 


Services.  The Legislature by statute, and the Department by rule, have established standards 


of conduct including prohibitions against fraud and self-dealing the violation of which may 


result in the revocation of the professional fiduciaries license.  The position taken by counsel 


for complainant in this matter would require that virtually all trustees of court supervised 


trusts who invest in securities be licensed as investment advisers, a more expansive 


interpretation of applicable law than the S.E.C. on whose decisions complainant has 


historically relied. 
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ORDER 


 
The Desist and Refrain Orders issued by the Commissioner of Corporations against 


respondents based on allegations of unlawful sale of unqualified securities and unauthorized 


activities as a broker-dealer and investment adviser are dissolved. 
 
 
 


 


Dated:  January 11, 2012 
 
 
 
 


 
KARL S. ENGEMAN 


Administrative Law Judge 


Office of Administrative Hearings 





